

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2018

Increasing Organ Donations in Maryland: An Interrupted Time Series Analysis

Laura A. Gerlach *Walden University*

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations Part of the <u>Surgery Commons</u>

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection at ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact ScholarWorks@waldenu.edu.

Walden University

College of Social and Behavioral Sciences

This is to certify that the doctoral dissertation by

Laura A. Gerlach

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

> Review Committee Dr. Victor Ferreros, Committee Chairperson, Public Policy and Administration Faculty

Dr. Boris Bruk, Committee Member, Public Policy and Administration Faculty

Dr. Lydia Forsythe, University Reviewer, Public Policy and Administration Faculty

> Chief Academic Officer Eric Riedel, Ph.D.

> > Walden University 2018

Abstract

Impact of Maryland's Efforts to Increase Donor Registration Rates

Laura A. Gerlach

MS, Marymount University, 1995

BS, James Madison University, 1980

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Public Policy

Walden University

May 2018

Abstract

The state of Maryland has been unsuccessful in achieving its goal of registering its entire population as organ donors. The registered donor participation rate has remained static, and organ supply is insufficient to meet demand. The purpose of this correlational study was to understand if efforts in the state of Maryland to increase donor registration rates were successful. The donor registration program allowed registered donors to opt out of the heart icon program to overcome the myths of the effect of the heart icon on a person's driver's license. The research question for this study examined the effectiveness of this program by allowing registered organ donors to remain anonymous. The theoretical foundation of this study was the theory of planned behavior. The research methods utilized included regression displacement, interrupted time series analysis, auto correlation analysis, and Box-Jenkins Autoregressive Integrated Moving Average Model (ARIMA). Data were collected from the Motor Vehicle Administration of Maryland and the Division of Motor Vehicles of Virginia. Study findings suggested that offering the option to remain anonymous and registering to be an organ donor with no heart icon on the driver's license did not encourage more people to register as organ donors. Parameter estimates from an Arima autoregression analysis did suggest that the impact of the removal of the heart icon may have a delayed impact, although data availability limited attempts at further investigation. These findings have implications for positive social change because by studying the effect of providing new options for organ donation and registration, it may be possible to increase the likelihood that more people will register to become donors. In the end, more organ donors equal more lives saved.

Impact of Maryland's Efforts to Increase Donor Registration Rates

Laura A. Gerlach

MS, Marymount University, 1995

BS, James Madison University, 1980

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Public Policy

Walden University

May 2018

Dedication

I dedicate this work to my husband, Bryce M. Gerlach, Jr.; the man of my dreams, my partner and friend, the one I adore and admire. His love for our Lord and his dedication our family are the things I love most about him. But without his unwavering support, and his ability to stay positive even when things look bleak, I could never have completed this task. The humility he exhibits and how he gently leads the way is a daily example to me. His wisdom always leaves me speechless. I could never have accomplished much in my life without him as my partner; cheering me on. I dedicate this work to him as it is as much his as it is mine, as I couldn't even have stepped on to this path without his unwavering love for me.

Acknowledgments

I would like to acknowledge my committee chairman, Dr. Victor Ferreros. His unwavering support, encouragement, and mentoring has provided me the ability to complete this task. His work as my professor, teacher, and the person who constantly challenged me to give my best, has helped me grow into the scholar I dreamed to become. I am ever grateful.

List of Tables	iv
List of Figures	V
Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study	1
Background of the Study	1
Problem Statement	2
Purpose of the Study	
Significance of the Study	4
Nature of the Study	4
Research Questions and Hypotheses	5
Theoretical Framework	5
Assumptions	6
Scope and Delimitations	7
Limitations	7
Definitions	7
Summary	9
Chapter 2: Literature Review	10
Introduction	10
Literature Search Strategy	11
Theoretical Foundation	11
Literature Review Related to Key Variables and Concepts	13
Organ Donor Registration	13

Table of Contents

Minorities and Registration14
The Internet and Organ Donation15
College Students and Registration15
Organ Donation Policy Issues16
The Division of Motor Vehicles16
Additional Research Topics Considered 17
Summary and Conclusions19
Chapter 3: Research Method21
Introduction21
Setting21
Research Questions and Hypotheses
Role of the Researcher
Methodology23
Sample24
Data Collection and Instrumentation24
Data Analysis
Threats to Validity
Issues of Trustworthiness25
Ethical Considerations
Implications for Social Change26
Summary

Chapter 4: Results	28
Data Collection	28
Study Results	29
Research Question 1	29
Research Question 2	45
Summary	46
Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations	47
Introduction	47
Nature of the Study and Key Findings	48
Interpretation of the Findings	48
Limitations of the Study	49
Implications for Positive Social Change and Recommendations for Practice	49
Conclusions	50
References	51

List of Tables

Table 1. Runs Test.	.35
Table 2. Interrupted Time Series Analysis: Impact of the Removal of the Heart Icon	.37
Table 3. Parameter Estimates for Maryland Registration Rates	.43

List of Figures

Figure 1. Organ donor registrations in the American states 2014-2015	29
Figure 2. Donor registration rates by states	30
Figure 3. Maryland organ donor registration rates as percent of total DMV transaction	ons
2014 -2016	32
Figure 4. Virginia donor registration rates and Maryland rates	33
Figure 5. Donor registration rates with policy intervention	34
Figure 6. Correlational difference between two states (A)	39
Figure 7. Correlational difference between two states (B)	40
Figure 8. Correlational difference between two states (C)	41
Figure 9. Correlational difference between two states (D)	42
Figure 10. Results of registered donors by age	44

Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study

Organ donation is a part of health care in the United States. The goal of organ donation is to save lives. There are two possible ways to become an organ donor. Most donations occur after death, but some members of the population become a living donor by donating a kidney or a portion of their liver or lung. This life-saving surgery has impacted thousands; yet, thousands remain on the waiting list to receive an organ. Transplantation is available to all. However, in the United States, more people need to register to become donors upon their death. The lack of education and myths that surround donation have proven to be obstacles in registering more people as donors.

Background of the Study

Organ donation began in the United States in the 1970s. The Uniform Anatomical Gift Act (1968) established laws to support state organ donation, and it developed the first organ donor cards and methods for registering as a donor. The law also established a centralized registry for organ matching and placement, while outlawing the sale of human organs. In 1984, the United States Congress passed the National Organ Transplant Act. The goal of this act was to monitor the ethical issues around donation and put a focus on organ shortages in the nation. The first computerized database for people waiting to receive organs was developed in 1977 (United Network for Organ Sharing, 2017). Since that time, there has been a nationwide effort to increase the number of people who are registered as organ donors.

Currently, there are 117,990 people waiting for the life-saving gift of an organ (United Network for Organ Sharing, 2017). The current organ supply is insufficient to meet demand (O'Carroll, Dryden, Hamilton-Barclay, & Ferguson, 2011).

Problem Statement

The state of Maryland has been unsuccessful in achieving its goal of registering all of its population as organ donors. The state currently has 59% of its population registered as donors. In comparison, Virginia's organ registration rate is 61%. Maryland lags behind many states in organ donor registration. The national registered donors' participation rate over the past 20 years has remained static; although, the number of people waiting for a life-saving organ has increased by 10% (Cameron et al., 2013). The organ supply is insufficient to meet demand (O'Carroll et al., 2011). Despite the wealth of data on registration rates, there is little literature on viable, alternative ways to entice individuals to register as an organ donor. As a result, thousands of Maryland residents are currently waiting for an organ, and 22 people die daily waiting for an organ (van Andel, Tybur, & Van Lange, 2016). Despite many educational efforts, nationally, more than 48% of the population remains unregistered to be an organ donor. To address the problem, Maryland instituted a program with the Motor Vehicle Administration (MVA) to increase donor registration rates. In this study, the literature of organ donor registration was expanded and examined new and untested options in the state of Maryland to determine if there were ways to increase registration rates with Marylanders.

Purpose of the Study

The purpose of this study was to understand if efforts by the state of Maryland to provide registered donors an option of remaining anonymous increased donor registration rates. Some individuals do not trust doctors or the medical community (Hyde, Wihardjo, & White, 2012). The Maryland MVA became aware of a myth regarding registration and considered that this myth may prevent individuals from becoming registered organ donors. Some members of the population believed that if doctors saw that an individual was an organ donor on his or her driver's license, the doctor would not work hard to save a life in an effort to get the organs for other patients. In an effort to overcome this myth, Maryland designed a program allowing registered donors to opt out of the heart icon program on their driver's license. However, scholars have not determined if the opt-out option will lead to increased donor registration. No other state in this country has offered the option of allowing registered donors to register but opt out of the heart icon program, allowing them to remain anonymous. In order to understand the impact of this program, a state without this program was examined to provide data to understand if providing this option had value. The state of Virginia was chosen as it had similar demographics and populations as the state of Maryland. It is important to register more donors to increase the availability of transplantable organs for those waiting for the life-saving gift and to prevent a difficult family decision by encouraging people to make the choice to become a donor before their death.

Significance of the Study

In this research, there is an attempt to fil a gap in understanding if allowing registrants to remain anonymous will increase donor registration rates. Data was examined to learn if having the option to opt out of the heart icon program increased donor registration numbers. According to Rodrigue et al. (2012), 97% of all people who register as organ donors do so at their local Division of Motor Vehicles. Because of the high volume of people who visit the MVA in the state of Maryland, this study provided the ability to gather data regarding this issue.

Nature of the Study

This study was quantitative in approach. Quantitative researchers examine patterns, as expressed in numbers (Rudestam & Newton, 2015). This study was a time series design using regression displacement design in the beginning. A comparison of time series data on organ donations for Maryland and Virginia over a 2-year period, including the policy intervention, was conducted. Virginia was the control group, and the periods before and after the intervention in Maryland were compared. Donor registration rates were examined before the program and then examined after the program was implemented to compare those who registered to become organ donors and did not opt out of the heart icon program for a 1-year period against the same period when opting out was not an option. These were the two main time periods. This pattern should be reflected in registration rates. In this study, the combined differences between groups of registered organ donors were shown. The focus was to measure these data, while controlling for any potential errors (Rudestam & Newton, 2015). This methodology allowed me to include variables that can be measured.

Research Questions and Hypotheses

Two primary research questions (RQ) and two hypotheses were included in this study.

RQ₁: To what extent does the ability of registered organ donors to opt out of the heart icon program, increase registration rates?

 H_{01} : Allowing Maryland registered organ donors to opt out of the heart icon program will increase organ donor registration rates.

 H_1 1: Allowing Maryland registered organ donors to opt out of the heart icon program will not increase organ donor registration rates.

RQ₂: What age demographic is holding down registration rates?

 H_{02} : Specific age ranges can be identified as those opting to not registered as donors, and thus hold down the registration rates.

 H_1 2: No specific age ranges could be identified as those opting to not register as donor, and thus hold down the registration rates.

Theoretical Framework

The theoretical basis for this study was the theory of planned behavior. The theory of planned behavior is a useful model of health behavior and has been employed to explain patterns of organ donation behavior. The theory considers the impact of attitude, subjective norm and perceived behavioral control on behavior. Attitude, norm and behavioral control are determined by normative, behavioral and control beliefs. The

theory of planned behavior maintains that a major determinant of behavior is a person's intent which is influenced by attitudes and norms. It has been applied to organ donation behavior in this research. Many studies regarding organ donation have looked at attitudes regarding donation. Religion, role misconceptions, age, education, ethnic beliefs are some of the factors that are discussed in this chapter that serve to better understand the context of donation behavior within the theory of planned behavior. Using a theory of health behavior when looking at organ donation can help to explain the contributing factors to making a decision and can tell more about the relationships between these factors. The Theory of Planned Behavior offers the opportunity to examine a person's attitude and perceived behavioral control of a behavior. Their attitude, no matter positive or negative is determined by the perceived consequences of the behavior. The theory of planned behavior.

Assumptions

In this study, it was assumed that more research was needed to better understand how to register more people as organ donors. It was assumed that allowing registered donors to opt out of the heart icon program, and to become anonymous, would have a significant impact on registration. It was assumed that the data provided and the calculations that followed aligned with the research and presented a clear picture of the outcome. In addition, the possibility of an age effect will be investigated to determine if there was a certain age demographic that was affecting the registration numbers. It is also assumed that the data collected from the DMV in both the states of Virginia and Maryland were accurate.

Scope and Delimitations

The program allowing registered donors to remain anonymous began in October 2015; therefore, registration rates 1 year prior to this program were examined and compares them to a year while the program was in place. The scope of the study was limited to the calendar year of October 2014 through September 2015 for historical data, and October 2015 through September 2016 when the option to opt out of the heart icon program became available. Insights gleaned from this study allowed a greater understanding of determining if allowing registered donors to remain anonymous will have an impact on donor registration.

Limitations

The length of the time series employed in this study spans thirty months. A more extensive time series would have been desirable. The agency employees in both states felt the effort required to gather more data simply was too resource and time intensive. more extensive time series may eventually be needed to better understand the data.

Definitions

Donate Life: Donate Life is a nonprofit organization that has state chapters that support organ donation and work to increase the number of registered donors. They work in partnership with the DMVs nationwide.

Living donation: The process by which a person who is alive who donates a kidney or a portion of his or her liver or lung to another person. Hospitals actively

support living donation and encourage loved ones of those who are ill to consider participating.

Organ donor: This is an exact term for any person who agrees upon his or her death to donate his or her organs. It can also refer to someone who dies, and his or her living next-of-kin chooses to have him or her become a donor of his or her organs. This donation can also be to someone who is living, and it could be applied to research.

Organ donor registration: This term refers to the active participation of persons who sign up as an organ donor upon their death by many ways possible. They can choose to sign up at their local DMV, or they can sign up on various websites. In addition, the organ donation community holds events with in-person opportunities to register. The process of registering is accepting yes.

Organ procurement organization (OPO): OPO is a nonprofit organization that partners with hospitals when there are potential donors. There are 58 OPOs nationwide who play an active role in organ donation. They are also active in increasing the number of registered donors nationwide.

Organ Procurement Transplant Network (OPTN): The OPTN operates under contract with the United States Department of Health and Human Services, and they are managed by UNOS. They are a resource for data, education, and the current numbers of those waiting to receive an organ.

United Network of Organ Sharing (UNOS): UNOS is a nonprofit, private organization that manages the waiting list for all those waiting to receive the life-saving

gift of an organ, and they also participate in matching donors to recipients. They are the national organ transplant system.

Summary

In Chapter 1, an introduction to this study was provided, presenting the overview of organ donation and the challenge to increase the number of registered donors. Statistical data were provided that established the foundational parts of this study, which will bring to light the need for more donors to meet the need of the ever-growing list of those waiting for an organ. The theoretical framework provided the basis to understanding if allowing registered donors to remain anonymous will increase registration rates by supporting the assumption that the myth discourages organ donation. In addition, it was also useful to determine if the ages of those who register to donate reflect any specific age ranges.

Chapter 2, consists of a review of the body of literature on the subject of organ donation, previous research methods to increase registration rates, and conceptual frameworks used to better understand the behavior of organ donor registration in the context of the theory of planned behavior. It is hoped that it will improve insight on ways to increase registration rates, either by allowing anonymity or focusing education of a specific age group. In Chapter 3, provides descriptions of the choices of methods and the rationale in this study, including design, data collection, analysis, and impact of that analysis. In Chapter 4, the results of this study will be outlined. In Chapter 5, all key findings will be summarized and will include any recommendations and discussion points, as well as possible future research opportunities.

Chapter 2: Literature Review

Introduction

The state of Maryland has been unsuccessful in achieving its goal of registering all of its population as organ donors. The state currently has 59% of its population registered as donors. The registered donors' participation rate has remained static, although the number of people waiting for a lifesaving organ has increased by 10%. The organ supply is insufficient to meet demand (O'Carroll et al., 2011). Despite the wealth of data on registration rates, there is little literature on viable, alternative ways to entice individuals to register as an organ donor. As a result, thousands of Maryland residents are waiting for an organ, and 22 people die daily waiting for an organ (van Andel et al., 2016). Despite educational efforts around the country, more than 45% of the population remain unregistered to be an organ donor. To address the problem, Maryland instituted a program with the MVA, allowing registered donors to remain anonymous. In this study, the literature of organ donor registration is examined and as well as new options in the state of Maryland to determine if there are possible stimulants to increase registration rates with Marylanders.

The purpose of this study was to understand if efforts to increase donor registration rates were successful. The program allowed registered donors to opt out of the heart icon program in an effort to overcome the myths of the impact of the heart icon on a person's driver's license. Many do not trust doctors or the medical community (Hyde et al., 2012). No other state has offered the option of allowing registered donors to register but opt out of the heart icon program, allowing them to remain anonymous. It is important to register more donors to increase the availability of transplantable organs for those waiting for the life-saving gift and to prevent a difficult family decision by encouraging people to make the choice to become a donor before their death.

Literature Search Strategy

In a search for literature, articles were found from several electronic databases, including BioMedCentral, CINAHL & MEDLINE Simultaneous Search, CINAHL Plus with Full Text, MEDLINE with Full Text, ProQuest Central, ProQuest Health & Medical Collection, and SAGE Journals. The search terms used in conducting this literature search included the following: *organ donor, donor registration, organ donor registration, heart icon, organ donation, tissue donation, organ donation DMV, organ registration DMV, organ donor myths, organ donor concerns, organ donor attitudes, organ donor acceptability, organ donor resistance, informed consent, knowledge of organ donation, donor families, organ donor empathy, organ donor life orientation, deceased organ donation, neart symbol organ donation, transplantation, donor conversion, National Organ Transplant Act of 1984, nondonors, organ donor misconceptions.*

Theoretical Foundation

The theoretical model that was used was the theory of planned behavior. The theory of planned behavior is a useful model of health behavior and has been employed to explain patterns of organ donation behavior. Many studies regarding organ donation have looked at attitudes regarding donation. Religion, role misconceptions, age, education, ethnic beliefs are some of the factors research has learning that effect organ donation. In addition, many myths surround organ donation. This research looks to understand if the myth concerning the distrust of the medical profession can be overcome. The myth states that if a doctor sees the heart icon on your driver's license, he/she will not work to save your life. If Maryland offering the option of remaining anonymous and allowing registered donors to not have the heart icon on their driver's license, will that overcome this myth and encourage more donor registration. The Theory of Planned Behavior offers the opportunity to examine a person's attitude and perceived behavioral control of a behavior. This study will look to see if a person's attitude about organ donation can be affected by the option of remaining anonymous.

Design of the Study

This was an observational study. In this study, there was no manipulation of the intervention. The pre/post design included comparing the same group before and after the change of policy. It was assumed that the outcome will not have changed minus the policy. The design included two groups: the state of Maryland and the state of Virginia. Virginia functioned as the control group. Only Maryland had been exposed to the policy change. In this interrupted time series study, there was a comparison of longitudinal trends before and after the policy change. The data used were provided by the state of Maryland MVA and the state of Virginia DMV. The data were stable and representative

of 2 years (October 2015 through October 2016), with historical data from October 2014 through October 2015.

Literature Review Related to Key Variables and Concepts

Organ Donor Registration

Many researchers encourage organ donation. Scholars have explored why people do or do not register to be organ and tissue donors. Salim et al. (2015) examined the positive impact of kiosks in primary care clinics as a way to increase registration. In addition, body integrity issues reduced the likelihood of registration (Shepard & O'Carroll, 2014). Minorities are also concerned with body integrity (Dunleavy, 2013). An immediate, complete registration opportunity is unlikely to increase registration rates without additional support and effort (Siegel et al., 2016). The higher the social economic status, the more likely the individual is to be a donor (Reibel, Olmo, Andrada, & Koertzen, 2016). More people will register as donors if they are verbally asked (Hajhosseini, Stewatt, Tan, Busque, & Melcher, 2013). The state efforts to increase donor registration can be effective if educational materials are provided (Vertanous et al., 2016). Although the United States is an opt-in donation program where a person must opt in as a donor, scholars have also examined opt-out programs. Willis and Quigley (2014) indicated that an opt-out program would increase registration rates, but it has not been demonstrated as having an effect. Opt-out programs can work in coordination with presumed consent (Whyte, Selinger, Caplan, & Sadowski, 2012). Next-of-kin relationships have an influence on registration rates (Ahmad & Iftikhar, 2016).

Minorities and Registration

Minorities are underrepresented in donor registration, and researchers have attempted to learn why minorities do not register as organ donors. African Americans may perceive that chronic medical conditions, including hypertension and diabetes, would prevent them from being able to donate, which is a false assumption (DuBay et al., 2014). Intervention can lead to increased registrations among African Americans (Rodrigue et al., 2012). In addition, family and friends in minority groups are not supportive of registration (DuBay et al., 2014). Hispanic Americans are also an underrepresented population in organ donation registration. Hispanic Americans have a much lower donation rate than non-Hispanics. Many Hispanics believe that donation is forbidden in the Catholic religion (Salim et al., 2012). Asian Americans record a much lower registration as well (Achcmedia.com, 2014). Asian American adolescents are willing to donate, but communication with family members about this decision is important (Trompeta et al., 2012). Minorities are also noted as mistrusting the medical system, and this mistrust extends to organ donation (Quick, LaVoie, Scott, Bosch, & Morgan, 2012). The major reasons why African Americans are reluctant to register include the following: awareness of the problem, mistrust of those in medicine, fear of death, discrimination, and religious beliefs (Brown, 2012). Although 13% of the population is considered African American, they represent more than 29% of those on the wait list for organs (Dunleavy, 2013). Understanding cultural beliefs can have a positive impact on messages to minorities (Jernigan et al., 2013). When the families are asked to

donate their loved family member's organs, they are likely to decline. Through education, most populations can alter their views.

The Internet and Organ Donation

Over the past decade, as the Internet has become more commonplace, scholars have explored if using the Internet could increase donor registration rates. In 2012, Facebook set up a platform for members to specify on their profile if they are an organ donor. In addition, educational links were added. Cameron et al. (2013) found that a small portion of users had a positive image of organ donation. In addition, Hitt, Gidley, Smith, and Liang (2014) conducted a study to learn if providing an online competition between colleges to score the most points to register as donors would increase donation registration. Hitt et al. reported an incremental increase in registrations, as more social media was added. An additional college challenge was studied to learn if social media ads generated registrations (Smith et al., 2016). Although Stefanone, Anker. Evans, and Feeley (2012) failed to increase the number of people who registered their donation intentions, much was learned about how to use websites to market organ donation. Social media can bolster organ registration rates (Feely & Kruegler, 2015).

College Students and Registration

Britt, Britt, and Anderson (2015) examined rural college students to learn if the willingness to become an organ donor could be predicted by moral norms. In addition, researchers explored if communication about donation could move college students from awareness to behavior (Peltier, D'Alessandro, Dahl, & Feeley, 2012). Positive messaging impacted willingness to register as a donor (van Andel et al., 2016). In a study of 18-

year-old students, students indicated that they did not think about donation (Quick et al., 2012). Students would only support donation if it benefited society; thus, more work should be done to educate students to enhance registration and acceptance of organ donation (Peltier et al., 2012). There is a need to enhance the acceptance of registration for organ donation with college students by communicating to move them from awareness to registration behavior (Peltier et al., 2012).

Organ Donation Policy Issues

Chatterjee, Venkataramani, Vijayan, Wellen and Martin (2015) examined the effects of state policies provided incentives for people to register to donate, and they learned that these policies had no significant impact. In another study, state policies had little impact on organ donation registration rates (Matas & Hays, 2015). Policies to encourage registration as a donor had no effect on donation and transplantation (Chatterjee et al., 2015).

The Division of Motor Vehicles

Ninety-seven percent of all those that register as organ donors do so at their local DMV (Rodrigue et al., 2012). Many studies have been done to learn how to positively impact registration rates at the DMV. Siegel et al. (2016) examined if negative feelings at the DMV translated to negative feelings about donation. The state of West Virginia launched a program to learn if web-based training of the staff at the DMV would improve registration rates and found that the results were positive (Degenholtz, Resnick, Tang, Razdan, & Enos, 2015). The state of Massachusetts performed studies to learn if video messaging at the DMV would increase donor registration and found that it did not have

an impact on registration rates (Rodrigue, Fleishman, Fitzpatrick, & Boger, 2015). Rodrigue, Fleishman, Vishnevsky, Fitzpatrick, and Boger (2014) studied the impact of video messaging and how it equated to behavioral intent to register and found that 1minute videos can have a positive impact on organ donor registration. In New York State, Feeley, Reynolds-Tylus, Anker, and Evan (2014) explored the reasons why people did not sign up as an organ donor. In the state of Florida, Rodrigue et al. (2012) studied the effectiveness of a statewide intervention with the DMV to increase registration rates. Although asking for money to support organ donation relieved moral pressure on the applicant, it did not encourage more registrations (Hajhosseini et al., 2013).

Additional Research Topics Considered

Myths and misconceptions impede donor registration. Misconceptions about allocation and eligibility are widespread (Merola et al., 2016). One myth is that doctors will not save the life of a registered donor (Shepherd & O'Carroll, 2014). Another myth is that rich and famous people go to the top of the waiting list (DonateLifeMaryland.org, 2017). In addition, there are concerns that rich people can buy organs (Quick et al., 2012). These myths reduce the number of registered donors. People's attitudes play a role in their decision to become a donor. The most common reason cited for not registering as a donor was religious views; although, most religions around the world support organ donation (Salim et al., 2012). Religion is the most often noted barrier to registration to organ donation (Shepherd & O'Carroll, 2014). Although religious leaders are noted as supporting organ donation, religion continues to be a reason not to register (Irving et al., 2014). Confusion about religious support, family support, and the negative beliefs impact organ registration decisions. Concerns about the black market for organs is also a concern (Hyde et al., 2012).

Family interactions can impact donor registration rates. Families with little knowledge about donation prior to the pending death of a loved one are more apt to decline donation (Marck et al., 2016). Education can improve registration rates. A family's wishes and ensuring that their wishes align with the donor's wishes at the time of death, can create a challenge to donation (Toews & Caulfield, 2016). A lack of family support for donation reduces the likelihood of organ donation (Salim et al., 2012). Family influence can be positive, if they have been provided with knowledge about transplantation and donation (Walker, Broderick, & Sque, 2013). Families should discuss these wishes when registration is being considered. When family members know they have saved a life, they have no regrets about donation, while others may feel regret when opting not to donate (Marck et al., 2016). Inadequate support from family members adds to the feeling of being overwhelmed by the decision whether or not to donate organs (deGroot et al., 2016). There is a need for more education and support around the decision to donate.

Marketing programs can impact donor registration. In Iowa, residents were receptive to direct mail campaigns to increase donor registration (Quick, Reynolds-Tylus, Fico, & Feeley, 2016). In Illinois, an invitation via the U.S. mail resulted in increased registration rates (Quick, LaVoie, Morgan, & Bosch, 2015). In a study with college students, Chien and Chang (2015) found that giving positive messaging promoted registration rates, regardless of the graphics used in the marketing materials. Cues to action have a positive impact on registration rates (King, Williams, Harrison, Morgan, & Havermahl, 2012). Mass media campaigns can serve as a means for educating the public about organ donation (Rady, McGregor, & Verheijde, 2012). Marketing results can be difficult to analyze and quantify; however, organ donor campaigns can produce positive results in registration (Thomas, Scott, Forsythe, & Marson, 2015).

Summary and Conclusions

There is a need to learn new ways to encourage more people to become organ donors. Organ donation is a health concern in the United States (Gilligan, Sanson-Fisher, & Turon, 2012). The waiting list for organs grows daily. Efforts such as those put forward by the state of Maryland will provide more information on how to increase registration rates.

In the literature review, research was examined on the topics considered in attempting to increase donor registration. Family dynamics, ethics, minorities, religion, registration rates, registries, the DMV, and various age groups studied expanded the understanding of attempts to not only understand why the registration numbers are low, but also what techniques might work to increase donor registration rates. There is an association between the anticipatory effect and a person's intentions to participate in organ donation behaviors (Rocheleau, 2013). Reciprocity is supported by many scholars (Chandler, Burkell, & Shemie, 2012). Many community members consider altruistic influences when considering organ donation. Altruism should be a motivator for organ donation (Irving et al., 2014). With the Gallup Poll organization reporting that 95% of all

people in the United States supporting organ donation, there is a need to increase registration rates (as cited in Feeley, Reynolds-Tylus, Anker, & Evans, 2014).

Chapter 3 provides a detailed explanation of the research methods used in this study.

Chapter 3: Research Method

Introduction

Organ transplantation is a life-saving medical innovation. The miracle of organ transplantation saves or improves the lives of thousands of people each year. The miracle makers are the donors who give the gift of life. Organ donors are needed to save lives. In the United States, the challenge continues to register more of the population as organ donors upon their death. Many do not register, due to lack of education, belief in myths, and the consideration of mortality. Much research has been done to learn how to best increase registration rates; however, the wait list for potential recipients continues to grow, as organ donor registration rates remain static. In this study, it was examined if a program initiated by the state of Maryland, in cooperation with the MVA, increased registration rates. In this quantitative study, the relationship between the ability to remain anonymous in registering to become a donor and an increase in registration rates was examined.

In Chapter 3, describes the research problem, sampling strategy, design rationale, questions and hypotheses, and ethical considerations of the study. The chapter concludes with a discussion of the opportunities for possible social change implications.

Setting

This study partnered with the DMV in the states of Virginia and Maryland. The Virginia DMV and the Maryland MVA wished learn if this program had value. They both provided the data that were cleansed and verified, in order to have valid information. This data were used to determine the age demographic of those registering and if opting out of the heart icon program had any effect on registration. The statistical data analysis was rigorous and extensive in order to authenticate the data.

Research Questions and Hypotheses

RQ₁: To what extent does the ability of registered organ donors to opt out of the heart icon program, increase registration rates?

 H_{01} : Allowing Maryland registered organ donors to opt out of the heart icon program will increase organ donor registration rates.

 H_1 1: Allowing Maryland registered organ donors to opt out of the heart icon program will not increase organ donor registration rates.

RQ2: What age demographic is holding down registration rates?

 H_{02} : Specific age ranges can be identified as those opting to not register as donors, and thus hold down the registration rates.

 H_1 2: No specific age ranges could be identified as those opting to not register as a donor, and thus hold down the registration rates.

The first hypothesis allowed for a measurement of the independent variable. The increase in registration rates were measured of those who register as an organ donor, but who opted out of the heart icon program. The independent variable was the policy to opt out of the heart icon program. The dependent variable was registration rates. Over time, the impact of this independent variable could be significant. In addition, the independent variable of age also had an impact on the total donor registration rate. The second hypothesis was used to measure those who opted out of the heart icon program. It was

found that an insignificant number of people opted out; thus, it had no impact on the registration rates.

Role of the Researcher

The researcher ensures the standardization and validity of the data. The researcher's role is to facilitate the process and to conduct the study with the appropriate objectives and protocols. The researcher is also required to discern the relationship between the variables and gain an understanding of the results of the research.

Methodology

The targeted populations for this study were those who had registered as organ donors in the states of Virginia and Maryland for the timeframe specified for this study. From these populations, it was learned about choices that were made when options became available, and the age demographic of those who registered as organ donors. Understanding the age demographic of those who registered as a donor will shed light on the age demographic that does not. This information will prove to be valuable for future efforts to educate this group about donation.

Maryland was chosen for this study, as it was the only state to offer the option of registering and remaining anonymous. Virginia was chosen, as it is geographically close to Maryland and demographically similar. Virginia was also on interested in increasing registration rates and learning if this program had value. Data were provided for this study by the DMV in Virginia and the MVA in Maryland.

Sample

The sample size for this study were all those who registered as organ donors between October 1, 2014 through September 30, 2015, and October 1, 2015 through September 30, 2016. These dates provided comparison from when the option to remain anonymous was not available and when the option became available. DMV and MVA provided the data.

Quantitative methods such as regression displacement, interrupted time series analysis, auto correlation analysis and Arima Box Jenkins time series autoregression were employed. SPSS, Stata and R software were used to examine and analyze the data and to evaluate the results.

Data Collection and Instrumentation

The DMV in Virginia and the MVA in Maryland agreed to provide the data for the timeframes requested. The data requested had specifics that included the total number of those who registered as organ donors, the total number of those who registered to be an organ donor by sex and specific ages ranges, the total number of organ donors who registered by month, and the total number of organ donors who registered but opted out of the heart icon program. Data for donations were calculated as a percent of total motor vehicle transactions. The instrumentation is the data variables.

Data Analysis

SPSS, R and Stata software were used. Regression displacement, interrupted time series analysis, auto correlation analysis and Arima Box Jenkins were employed. The data was coded and summarized during every step throughout the process. Graphs and charts were used to strengthen the understanding of the findings. Previous work studies provided baselines for this topic of research.

Threats to Validity

The data collected came from the main source of organ donor registration in both Maryland and Virginia. There were a few threats to the validity of these data. One possible threat was that computer problems might have generated incorrect data. In addition, data entry errors might also have presented a threat to validity. It is assumed that the MVA and DMV were trustworthy sources of data and that the data were correct and valid.

Issues of Trustworthiness

The data for this study were dependable and credible and were provided by the states of Maryland and Virginia. Both states had verified the validity and overall reliability of these data which ensured the same results of this research. Care was taken in collecting and in analyzing the data, in order to ensure the quality of the data gathered (Creswell, 2013).

Ethical Considerations

Ethics remained the most critical of all considerations in the implementation and design strategy of data collection. The key to ethical consideration was to anticipate any possible dilemmas or questions that may have developed over the course of the research. While reviewing the data, consultation with other professionals was advised. Confidentiality was of the utmost importance. The data received for this study from the DMV and MVA did not include any confidential material. The accuracy of the obtained information remained a key focus.

Implications for Social Change

Any effort to save a life is considered valuable. The ability to save lives through organ donation is honorable. To have an impact on social change, this study must provide an opportunity to alter human behavior and/or cultural norms and values. In this study, it was learned how to increase the number of those who register as organ donors, which may increase the population for those available to save lives upon their death. By studying the effect of new options for organ donation, it may be possible to increase the likelihood that more people will register to become donors. The goal should be to provide policy to increase organ donor registration. This study provided a blueprint for future possibilities to be considered for others moving forward. If scholars can learn how to impact social behavior regarding organ donor registration, people may increase their organ donor registration rates, and thus save lives. Many lives will be saved, and hopefully fewer people will die waiting for the gift of life.

Summary

The purpose of this study was to learn if providing different options when registering as an organ donor will increase the registration rates of organ donors. The objective was achieved by using a quantitative method to analyze the data provided by the states of Virginia and Maryland's DMV. Maryland was attempting to increase donor registration rates by allowing those who may believe in myths about donation to remain anonymous as they register. In this study, it was examined to learn if this option proved to increase registration rates. In addition, it was desired to determine if the age of those who register as donors plays a role in registration numbers in these states.

This chapter included a description of the methodology that was used to achieve this goal. A brief overview was presented, as well as the description of the variables that were used. The statistical components were outlined, as well as the research questions and the hypotheses used in the study.

Chapter 4: Results

The purpose of this study was to quantitatively examine whether the efforts by the state of Maryland to provide registered organ donors an option to remain anonymous increased donor registration rates. The research questions and hypotheses that guided the study were as follows:

RQ1: To what extent does the ability of registered organ donors to opt out of the heart icon program, increase registration rates?

 H_{01} : Allowing Maryland registered organ donors to opt out of the heart icon program will increase organ donor registration rates.

 H_1 1: Allowing Maryland registered organ donors to opt out of the heart icon program will not increase organ donor registration rates.

RQ₂: What age demographic is holding down registration rates?

 H_02 : Specific age ranges can be identified as those opting to not registered as donors, and thus hold down the registration rates.

 H_1 2: No specific age ranges could be identified as those opting to not register as donor, and thus hold down the registration rates.

Data Collection

The MVA of Maryland began the program to allow citizens to register as an organ donor and to opt out of the heart icon program as of October 1, 2015. Data from October 1, 2015 through September 20, 2016 were collected. In addition, for comparison, the same data of those who registered as donors from October 1, 2014 through September

2015 were. The data collection proceeded as outlined in Chapter 3. All participants were 18-years-old or older from the states of Maryland and Virginia.

In the United States, organ donors have to opt in as a donor. Ninety-seven percent of all those who register as organ donors do so at their local DMV (Rodrigue et al., 2012). The states have used multiple methods to try to increase the donor registration rates, ranging from web-based registration to marketing methods using social media. The results have been mixed. Social media can bolster organ registration rates (Feely & Kruegler, 2015).

Study Results

Research Question 1

A regression displacement analysis using registered donations for 2014 and 2015 data from the 52 jurisdictions for all 50 states and the District of Columbia and Puerto Rico was conducted to understand whether the states of interest, particularly Maryland, exhibited any patterns worth noting. The regression equation $Y_{2015} = \beta_0 + BX_{2014} + \varepsilon$ was fitted to the data. The resulting equation $Y_{2015} = 7.934 + .879^{**}X_{2014}$, $R^2 = .90$ shows a strong linear pattern as shown in Figure 1.



Note. V3 = 2014 Rates V5 = 2015 Rates

Figure 1. Organ donor registrations in the American states 2014-2015.

Maryland was in the middle of the pack, almost on the regression line. A scatter diagram of the forecasted values plotted against the actual value in Figure 2 shows the same pattern, much the typical state in terms of donor registration rates.



Figure 2. Donor registration rates by states.

Maryland was chosen for this study, as it was the only state to offer the option of registering and remaining anonymous. The heart icon on the driver's license is a nationally recognized symbol of registered organ donors. The state of Maryland's option to allow registered organ donors to opt out of the heart icon program might serve as a test of whether anonymity increases the rate of organ donation. The term opt out here is not used in the same manner as the better known opt out options in European countries, but rather to denote that prospective donors in Maryland can decide to remove the heart icon from their driver's licenses. No other state in this country has offered the option of allowing registered donors to register but opt out of the heart icon program, allowing them to remain anonymous. In order to understand the impact of this program, comparing the results to a state without this program could provide data to understand if providing this option had value. The state of Virginia was chosen as they had similar demographics and populations. A comparison of time series data on organ donations for Maryland and Virginia over a 2-year period including the policy intervention was conducted. Virginia originally was the control group and the periods before and after the intervention in both Maryland and Virginia were compared.

The data for the study encompassed 30 consecutive months for both Maryland and Virginia from April 2014 through September of 2016. The intervention occurred in October 2015. Attempts to collect additional data both for earlier and later months of the intervention both for Maryland and Virginia were unsuccessful. The relevant time series graphs for the registration rates as a percent of total DMV transactions are depicted in Figures 3,4, and 5.



Figure 3. Maryland organ donor registration rates as percent of total DMV transactions 2014 -2016.





Note. Maryland Red, Virginia Blue

Figure 4. Virginia donor registration rates and Maryland rates.



Note. Maryland Red, Virginia Blue

Figure 5. Donor registration rates with policy intervention.

The different plots, on visual examination, show no discernible trends. In addition to the registration rates, the program intervention HTOPT was coded as a dummy variable, coded 0 before the intervention and 1 on and after October 2015. This variable captures the interplay between the intervention and time. A time variable, time was added to capture the overall secular trend over the 30-time periods. A variable TimeAft was coded 0 before the intervention and numbered sequentially after the intervention to capture the continuing effect of the HTopt program. Lastly, a difference DID variable was added to measure the differences between Maryland and Virginia rates. Virginia's rates exceeded Maryland's rates in 7 months out of the 30-month series. Runs tests were calculated for the Maryland, Virginia, and DID variables. The runs test for randomness is a simple numeric check for the randomness of a time series. The following table shows the results

Table 1

Runs Tests

Variables	Maryland rates	Virginia rates	Difference variable
Mean	-1.512	-2.272*	349
Median	908	-1.224	535
Mode	908	-2.028	770

Note. *=*P*<.05

The absence of significant *p*-values for the Maryland and difference variable indicated that there was no evidence to reject the hypothesis of a random process. Despite this visual inspection of the Maryland data, further examination is suggested. Regression equations using time as the independent variable prior to the month of the intervention and after the month of the intervention tests to show whether there were two different dynamic processes at work was used. Prior to October 2015, the fitted regression; *Dpct md* = 6.369 - .090Time suggested a negative, if insignificant, trend. After October 2015, the series for both states spiked downward, which could be attributable to chance but the fitted regression after the intervention; *Dpct md* = -3.122 + .318*Time* * showed a positive, but significant slope, which may have been caused by the outlier at the end of the series. Regressions were also fitted for the DiDpct variable. Prior to October 2015, the regression equation for the variable was DiDpct = 1.433 - .006Time. After that month, the fitted equation was Didpct = 2.638 - .099Time. None of the slopes showed significance.

To analyze further the interrupted time series regression equation, $Y = \beta_0 + \beta_1 T + \beta_2 Hopt + \beta_3$, Time Aft was fitted to the both the Maryland rates and the difference in Maryland and Virginia rates. Table 2 shows the results of the interrupted time series.

Table 2

		Coefficient	Standard Error
Maryland			
Time		090	.056
Hopt Intervention		-1.329	.945
Time Aft		.312**	.118
Intercept		6.369**	.608
RSquare .260			
Durbin Watson 2.202			
Difference Md Va			
Time		006	.694
Hopt Intervention		447	1.078
Time Aft		094	.134
Intercept	1.433*		
R square .175			
Durbin Watson 2.009			

Interrupted Time Series Analysis: Impact of the Removal of the Heart Option

Note. p<.01 * p<.05

It was found that the level of organ donation rates in Maryland showed a decrease of 1.3% after the intervention according to β_2 . In addition, β_1 and β_3 showed that rates decreased before the intervention point (-.090), but it showed an increase (.312-.090=.222) afterwards. Given the lingering effects of autocorrelation and the Durbin Watson statistics for both models, regression in this interrupted time series is normally estimated in autoregressive form, where:

$$Y_t = \emptyset_t Y_{t-1} + \emptyset_2 Y_{t-2} + \dots \otimes_p Y_{t-p} + \alpha_t$$

The best predictor of the variable at time t was the variable at t-1 and α_t is the error term. In accordance with the method, correlograms and partial correlograms were generated for both the Maryland rates and the difference between the two state rates. Figures 6, 7, 8, and 9 show the correlograms and partial correlograms.



Figure 6. Maryland Rates.



Figure 7. Partial Correlogram: Maryland.



Figure 8. Correlogram: Difference between Maryland and Virginia



Figure 9. Partial Correlogram: Difference between Maryland and Virginia

The ACF and PACF charts for both variables did not match patterns that are classified into autoregressive or moving average patterns. The estimation of the parameters using ARIMA modelling might be of some help. Parameters were estimated for ARIMA (0,0) and a first order ARIMA (1,0) process. Table 3 displays the results for the Maryland rate data only. Results for the difference between Maryland and Virginia were not shown, as none of the parameters showed significance both using the random noise model or the first order autoregression.

Table 3

Parameter Estimates for Maryland Registration Rates			
Variable	Parameter estimate	Standard error	

Variable	Parameter estimate	Standard error	<i>P</i> -value
AR(1)			
Time	006	.053	.101
TimeAft	.316	.110	.008*
HTopt	-1.349	.902	.147
AR(0,0)			
Time	090	.056	.123
TimeAft	.312	.118	.014*
HTopt	-1.329	.945	.172

The parameter estimates for the variables showed the sole significance of the TimeAft variable both in the first order AR process and in the random noise model. There may be some significance to the erratic upward trend that started about the 20th month after the intervention. The coefficient measured the continuing effect of the policy after enactment and should capture long-term impact. The coefficient for time here was treated as a nuisance variable, as it controlled for any secular trend effect. The coefficient for the

P

1

intervention variable again appeared insignificant. There does appear to be some evidence, although weak, that there may be a long-term impact of the removal of the heart icon option. The theory of planned behavior helps to explain the attitudes toward organ donation.

Research Question 2

Looking at the data from October 1, 2015–October 1, 2016, it was found that the largest population to register as donors was the 18- to 30-year-old age group. As the population ages, organ registration decreased. The age group of 51-60 years of age was the population registering the least. However, all ages from 31-years-old and above registered as a much lower rate than those in the 18– 30-year-old range. This answered the question, what age demographic is holding down registration rates. *H*₀2 was correct in that there is a specific age range that can be identifies as holding down registration rates. This information could be useful in educational efforts to increase registration rates. Figure 10 shows the registered donors by age.



Figure 10. Results of registered donors by age.

Summary

The data were not made available past September of 2016 to further investigate the viability of a long-term impact. A more extensive time series could better explain what appears to be a volatile period within which the policy change took place. There is the possibility of a history threat or possible cointerventions, such as changes in variables that could affect changes in donation registrations. For example, Maryland state employees were convinced that increases in donor rates were due to the governor's push to emphasize on line transactions for registrations (The Baltimore Sun, 2018). This policy push was initiated in 2014 prior to the beginning of the series, but data for that period was unavailable. There were also other variables that affected donor registration; but, they were beyond the scope of the data in this study. The rates may vary on the basis of age, education, and other relevant demographics. Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations

Introduction

The purpose of this quantitative study was to examine the impact of offering registered organ donors the option of remaining anonymous. Two research questions guided this study. In the first question, it was tested the extent of opting out of the heart icon program and the impact it had on registration rates. In the second question, it was tested if any age demographic held down registration rates.

Previous researchers did identify that the myth of trusting the medical profession and their access to see the heart on their driver's license was a problem. The belief that a doctor will be more interested in recovering organs than saving a life was a prominent reason for not registering as an organ donor (Hyde et al., 2012). Ethnic minorities cite the mistrust of the medical community as the second most common reason to not register as an organ donor (Brown, 2012). Tribal College communities also expressed the same mistrust (Jernigan et al., 2013). The mistrust of the medical community in relation to organ donation was apparent in all focus group, regardless of race (Quick et al., 2012). Morgan et al. (2013) showed the mistrust of the medical profession with African Americans and the Black Caribbean population. Regarding the age of those who register to donate, mature adults are more likely than those younger to not register as a donor (Quick et al., 2016). However, no previous research was done on the option of opting out of the heart icon program, allowing the registered donors to remain anonymous. This study was conducted to understand the impact of the ability of registered donors remaining anonymous.

Nature of the Study and Key Findings

Data were collected from the MVA in the state of Maryland and the DMVs in the state of Virginia. All donor registration data were collected for the time range of April 2014 to October 2016. According to the overall results, it was not found that offering the option to remain anonymous and registering to be an organ donor with no heart icon on the driver's license encouraged more people to register as an organ donor. It was also learned that there were certain ages were less like to register as an organ donor. The age bracket 31-years-old and older registered at a much lower rate than those in the 18–30-year-old range.

This chapter provides an interpretation and analysis of these results, including the limitations of the study, as well as recommendations for further research and implications for social change.

Interpretation of the Findings

Maryland offered the opportunity to not receive the heart icon on a driver's license when registering as an organ donor; however, it did not find that this impacted registration rates in a positive way. As discussed in Chapter 2, there is a mistrust of the medical community when it comes to organ donation (Quick et al., 2012). Although some did opt out of the heart icon program, it is difficult to conclude that offering the opportunity to remain anonymous would encourage organ donor registration. Although the analysis was suggestive, there were not enough data to make this case. In addition, the age group of 18-30-year-olds was the population most likely to register as organ donors. Previous research supports efforts to register a wider range of donors (Quick et al., 2016).

Limitations of the Study

The limitation of the study was that a larger range of data were not made available for further investigation. The data for the study encompassed 30 consecutive months for both Maryland and Virginia from April 2014 through September of 2016. The intervention occurred in October 2015. Attempts to collect additional data both for earlier and later months of the intervention both for Maryland and Virginia were unsuccessful. A more extensive time series could better explain what appears to be a volatile period within which the policy change took place. There is the possibility of a history threat or possible cointerventions, such as changes in variables that could affect changes in donation registrations. For example, some Maryland state employees believe that increases in donor rates are due to the governor's push to emphasize online transactions for registrations (The Baltimore Sun, 2018). This policy push was initiated in 2014 prior to the beginning of the series and was unable to obtain data for that period. There were also other variables that affect donor registration; but they, were beyond the scope of the data in this study. The rates may vary on the basis of age, education, and other relevant demographics. Certain demographics are less likely to register and that could also have been a limitation to this study (Brown, 2012). As defined in Chapter 2, additional research is needed to understand why people choose to not register as organ donors (DuBay et al., 2014).

Implications for Positive Social Change and Recommendations for Practice

Any effort to save a life is considered valuable. The ability to save lives through organ donation is honorable. To In this study, provided an opportunity to alter human

behavior and/or cultural norms and values. By studying the effect of providing new options for organ donation, it may be possible to increase the likelihood that more people will register to become donors. The goal should be to provide policy and opportunities to increase organ donor registration. If scholars can learn how to impact social behavior regarding organ donor registration, increase the organ donor registration rates, and save lives, the implications for social change are immeasurable. Many lives will be saved, and fewer people will die waiting for the gift of life.

Conclusions

Although there was no strong evidence that offering registered organ donors the option of remaining anonymous increases registration rates, the policy may have an increasing impact over the long term. This long-term impact can only be confirmed with additional data. There is considerable value in learning the effectiveness of different strategies to encourage organ donor registration. Regarding the age of those who register to be organ donors, further research should be done to understand why those 31-years-old and older are registering to become an organ donor at a much lower rate than those younger. Understanding how to encourage this age category to agree to organ donation could impact registration rates. Organ donation saves lives, and research to understand how to register more donors has value.

References

Achcmedia.com. (2014). Organ donation rates much lower among minorities. Retrieved from https://www.ahcmedia.com/articles/17109-organ-donation-consent-ratesmuch-lower-among-minorities

Ahmad, G., & Iftikhar, S. (2016). An analysis of organ donation policy in the United States. *Rhode Island Medical Journal*, 99(5), 25. Retrieved from http://www.rimed.org/publications.asp

Baltimoresun.com. (2014) Retrieved from

http://www.baltimoresun.com/news/opinion/readersrespond/bs-ed-mva-20140507-story.html

- Britt, R., Britt, B., & Anderson, J. (2015). Theoretical implications addressing rural college students' organ donation behaviors. *Journal of Health Psychology*, 22(5), 650-660. https://doi.org/10.1177/1359105315611953
- Brown, E. (2012). African American present perceptions of organ donation: A pilot study. *ABNF Journal*, 23(2), 29. Retrieved from http://tuckerpub.com/abnf.htm
- Cameron, A., Massie, A, Alexander, C., Stewart, B., Montgomery, R., Benavides, N.,...Segev, D. (2013). Social media and organ donor registration: The Facebook effect. *American Journal of Transplantation*, 13(8), 2059-2065. https://doi.org/10.1111/ajt.12312
- Chandler, J., Burkell, J., & Shemie, S. (2012). Priority in organ allocation to previously registered donors: Public perceptions of the fairness and effectiveness of priority

systems. Progress in Transplantation, 22(4), 413-422.

https://doi.org/10.7182/pit2012324

- Chatterjee, P., Venkataramani, A., Vijayan, A., Wellen, J, & Martin, E. (2015). The effect of state policies on organ donation and transplantation in the United States. *JAMA Internal Medicine*, *175*(8), 1323-1329. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamainternmed.2015.2194
- Chien, Y., & Chang, W. (2015). Effects of message framing and exemplars on promoting organ donation. *Psychological Reports*, 117(3), 692-702. https://doi.org/10.2466/01.pr0.117c25z7
- Creswell, J. W. (2013). *Research design: Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approaches*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Degenholtz, H., Resnick, A., Tang, Y., Razdan, M., & Enos, M. (2015). Effect of web-based training for Department of Motor Vehicle staff on donor designation rates:
 Results of a statewide randomized trial. *American Journal of Transplantation*, 15(5), 1376-1383. https://doi.org/10.1111/ajt.13117
- de Groot, J., van Hoek, M., Hoedemaekers, C., Hoitsma, A., Schilderman, H., Smeets,
 W., Vernooij-Dassen, M., & van Leeuwen, E. (2016). Request for organ donation
 without donor registration: a qualitative study of the perspectives of bereaved
 relatives. *BMC Medical Ethics*, *17*(1), 38.

DonateLifeMaryland.org. (2017). Myths and misconceptions. Retrieved from http://www.donatelifemaryland.org/get_the_facts/myths_misconceptions/index.html

- DuBay, D., Ivankova, N., Herby, I., Wynn, T., Kohler, C., Berry, B.,...Martin, M. (2014). African American organ donor registration: a mixed methods design using the theory of planned behavior. *Progress in Transplantation*, 24(3), 273-283. https://doi.org/10.7182/pit2014936
- Dunleavy, V. (2013). A culturally competent approach to exploring barriers in organ donation consent among Haitian immigrants: Formative focus group findings and implications. *Journal of Immigrant and Minority Health*, *15*(6), 1113-1118. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10903-012-9719-y
- Feeley, T. & Kruegler, J. (2015). Promoting organ donation through challenge campaigns. *Progress in Transplantation*, 25(2), 176-181.
- Feeley, T., Reynolds-Tylus, T., Anker, A., & Evans, M. (2014). Reasons for (not) signing the state registry: Surveying Department of Motor Vehicles customers in New York State. *Progress in Transplantation*, 24(1), 97-105. https://doi.org/10.7182/pit2014390
- Gilligan, C., Sanson-Fisher, R., & Turon, H. (2012). The organ donation conundrum. *Progress in Transplantation*, 22(3), 312-316. Retrieved from http://journals.sagepub.com/loi/pit
- Glass, G. V., Willson, V. L., & Gottman, J. M. (1975). Design and analysis of time-series experiments (Vol. 197). Boulder, CO: Colorado Associated University Press.
- Hajhosseini, B., Stewart, B., Tan, J., Busque, S., & Melcher, M. (2013). Evaluating deceased donor registries: Identifying predictive factors of donor designation. *The*

American Surgeon, 79(3), 235-241. Retrieved from

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/labs/journals/am-surg/

- Hitt, R., Gidley, R., Smith, S., & Liang, Y. (2014). Traditional vs. social networking routes for organ donation registrations in a competition-based campaign. *Journal of Communication in Healthcare*, 7(3), 197-207.
 https://doi.org/10.1179/1753807614y.000000060
- Hyde, M., Wihardjo, K., & White, K. (2012). Do the myths still exist? Revisiting people's negative beliefs about organ donation upon death. *Psychology, Health & Medicine*, 17(5), 530-541. https://doi.org/10.1080/13548506.2011.647698
- Irving, M., Jan, S., Tong, A., Wong, G., Craig, J, Chadban, S.,...Howard, K. (2014). What factors influence people's decisions to register for organ donation? The results of a nominal group study. *Transplant International*, 27(6), 617-624. https://doi.org/10.1111/tri.12307
- Jernigan, M., Fahrenwald, N., Harris, R., Tsosie, U., Baker, L. O., & Buchwald, D. (2013). Knowledge, beliefs, and behaviors regarding organ and tissue donation in selected tribal college communities. *Journal of Community Health*, 38(4), 734-740. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10900-013-9672-2
- King, A., Williams, E., Harrison, T., Morgan, S., & Havermahl, T. (2012). The "Tell Us Now" campaign for organ donation: Using message immediacy to increase donor registration rates. *Journal of Applied Communication Research*, 40(3), 229-246. https://doi.org/10.1080/00909882.2012.670258

- Marck, C., Neate, S., Skinner, M., Dwyer, B., Hickey, B., Radford, S., Weiland, T., & Jelinek, G. (2016). Potential donor families' experiences of organ and tissue donation-related communication, processes and outcome. *Anaesthesia & Intensive Care*, 44(1). Retrieved from http://www.aaic.net.au/
- Matas, A., & Hays, R. (2015). Transplantation: Little effect of state policies on organ donation in the USA. *Nature Reviews Nephrology*, 11(10), 570-572. Retrieved from https://www.nature.com/nrneph/
- Merola, J., Pei, K., Rodriguez-Davalos, M., Gan, G., Deng, Y., Mulligan, D., & Davis, K. (2016). Attitudes toward organ donation among waitlisted transplant patients:
 Results of a cross-sectional survey. *Clinical Transplantation*, *30*(11), 1449-1456.
 https://doi.org/10.1111/ctr.12839

National Organ Transplant Act, H.R. 4080, 98th Cong. (1984).

- O'Carroll, R., Dryden, J., Hamilton-Barclay, T., & Ferguson, E. (2011). Anticipated regret and organ donor registration—A pilot study. *Health Psychology*, *30*(5), 661. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0024182
- Peltier, J., D'Alessandro, A., Dahl, A., & Feeley, T. (2012). A sequential decision framework for increasing college students' support for organ donation and organ donor registration. *Progress in Transplantation*, 22(3), 323-332. https://doi.org/10.7182/pit2012792
- Quick, B., LaVoie, N., Morgan, S., & Bosch, D. (2015). You've got mail! An examination of a statewide direct-mail marketing campaign to promote deceased

organ donor registrations. *Clinical Transplantation*, 29(11), 997-1003. https://doi.org/10.1111/ctr.12620

- Quick, B., LaVoie, N., Scott, A., Bosch, D., & Morgan, S. (2012). Perceptions about organ donation among African American, Hispanic, and White high school students. *Qualitative Health Research*, 22(7), 921-933. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732312439631
- Quick, B., Reynolds-Tylus, T., Fico, A., & Feeley, T. (2016). Source and message framing considerations for recruiting mature adults as organ donors through direct mail campaigns. *Progress in Transplantation*, 26(4), 309-313. https://doi.org/10.1177/1526924816663518
- Rady, M., McGregor, J., & Verheijde, J. (2012). Mass media campaigns and organ donation: Managing conflicting messages and interests. *Medicine, Health Care* and Philosophy, 15(2), 229-241. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11019-011-9359-3
- Reibel, M., Olmo, C., Andrada, S., & Koertzen, J. (2016). Deep demographics:
 Understanding local variation in donor registration. *Progress in Transplantation*, 26(2), 191-198. https://doi.org/10.1177/1526924816640670
- Rocheleau, C. (2013). Organ donation intentions and behaviors: Application and extension of the theory of planned behavior. *Journal of Applied Social Psychology*, 43(1), 201-213. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1559-1816.2012.00998.x
- Rodrigue, J., Fleishman, A., Fitzpatrick, S., & Boger, M. (2015). Organ donation video messaging in motor vehicle offices: results of a randomized trial. *Progress in Transplantation*, 25(4), 332-338. https://doi.org/10.7182/pit2015166

- Rodrigue, J., Krouse, J., Carroll, C., Giery, K., Fraga, Y., & Edwards, E. (2012). A
 Department of Motor Vehicles intervention yields moderate increases in donor designation rates. *Progress in Transplantation*, 22(1), 18-24.
 https://doi.org/10.7182/pit2012436
- Rudestam, K. E., & Newton, R. R. (2015). *Surviving your dissertation: A comprehensive guide to content and process*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Salim, A., Berry, C., Ley, E., Schulman, D., Navarro, S., Zheng, L., & Chan, L. (2012). A focused educational program after religious services to improve organ donation in Hispanic Americans. *Clinical Transplantation*, 26(6), E634-E640. https://doi.org/10.1111/ctr.12036
- Salim, A., Berry, C., Ley, E., Schulman, D., Anderson, J., Navarro, S.,...Chan, L. S. (2015). Improving organ donor registration using kiosks in primary care clinics. *Health Education Journal*, 74(6), 758-763. https://doi.org/10.1177/0017896914559854
- Shepherd, L., & O'Carroll, R. (2014). Do affective attitudes predict organ donor registration? A prospective study. *Journal of Health Psychology*, *19*(10), 1329-1333. https://doi.org/10.1177/1359105313488984
- Siegel, J., Alvaro, E., Tan, C., Navarro, M., Garner, L., & Jones, S. (2016). The potential (F) utility of a passive organ donor registration opportunity: A conceptual replication. *Progress in Transplantation*, 26(2), 103-108. https://doi.org/10.1177/1526924816641814

- Siegel, J., Tan, C., Rosenberg, B., Navarro, M., Thomson, A., Lyrintzis, E.,...Jones, N. (2016). Anger, frustration, boredom and the Department of Motor Vehicles: Can negative emotions impede organ donor registration? *Social Science & Medicine*, 153, 174-181. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2016.02.013
- Smith, S., Hitt, R., Park, H., Walther, J., Liang, Y., & Hsieh, G. (2016). An effort to increase organ donor registration through intergroup competition and electronic word of mouth. *Journal of Health Communication*, 21(3), 376-386. https://doi.org/10.1080/10810730.2015.1095815
- Stefanone, M., Anker, A., Evans, M., & Feeley, T. (2012). Click to "like" organ donation: The use of online media to promote organ donor registration. *Progress in Transplantation*, 22(2), 168-174. <u>https://doi.org/10.7182/pit2012931</u>

The Uniform Anatomical Gift Act, S.B. 180/ H.B. 30, 90th Cong. (1968).

- Thomas, R., Scott, W., Forsythe, J., & Marson, L. (2015). Organ donation registration: Evidence based marketing? *International Journal of Surgery*, 23, S16. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijsu.2015.07.018
- Toews, M., & Caulfied, T. (2016). Evaluating the "family veto" of consent for organ donation. *CMAJ*, *188*, 17-18. https://doi.org/10.1503/cmaj.160752
- Trompeta, J., Cooper, B., Ascher, N., Kools, S., Kennedy, C., & Chen, J. (2012). Asian American adolescents' willingness to donate organs and engage in family discussion about organ donation and transplantation. *Progress in Transplantation*, 22(1), 33-70. https://doi.org/10.7182/pit2012328

van Andel, C., Tybur, J., & Van Lange, P. (2016). Donor registration, college major, and prosociality: Differences among students of economics, medicine and psychology. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 94, 277-283. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2016.01.037

Vertanous, T., Czer, L., de Robertis, M., Kiankhooy, A., Kobashigawa, J., Esmailian, F., & Trento, A. (2016). Leading efforts to increase organ donation through professionalization of organ procurement organizations and establishment of organ and tissue donor registries. *Transplantation Proceedings*, 48, 10-14. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.transproceed.2015.12.029

Walker, W., Broderick, A., & Sque, M. (2013). Factors influencing bereaved families' decisions about organ donation: An integrative literature review. *Western Journal of Nursing Research*, 35(10), 1339-1359.
https://doi.org/10.1177/0193945913484987

Whyte, K., Selinger, E., Caplan, A., & Sadowski, J. (2012). Nudge, nudge or shove, shove—the right way for nudges to increase the supply of donated cadaver organs. *The American Journal of Bioethics*, 12(2), 32-39. https://doi.org/10.1080/15265161.2011.634484

Willis, B., & Quigley, M. (2014). Opt-out organ donation: on evidence and public policy. *Journal of the Royal Society of Medicine*, 107(2), 56-60. https://doi.org/10.1177/0141076813507707